FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

JUN 10 1993

Supreme Court Case No.: 79,217 18th Cir. Case No: 90-16062 CF-A

By Chief Deputy Clerk

Chadwick Willacy,

Appellant,

VS.

The State of Florida,

Appellee.

Initial Brief of the Appellant

An Appeal from a Judgment and Sentence of Death by the Circuit Court of the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Brevard County, Florida

Brief for the Appellant by:

ERLENBACH & ERLENBACH, P.A. Kurt Erlenbach Fla. Bar No. 356387 503 South Palm Avenue Titusville, FL 32796 (407) 269-0666

Statement of the Issues

I.

THE COURT REVERSIBLY ERRED WHEN IT REFUSED TO ALLOW THE DEFENSE AN OPPORTUNITY TO REHABILITATE MARIA CRUZ BEFORE SHE WAS STRICKEN FOR CAUSE.

11.

THE COURT REVERSIBLY ERRED UNDER *NEIL v. STATE*, 457 *So.* 2d 481 (FLA. 1984). AND ITS PROGENY WHEN IT ALLOWED THE STATE TO EXERCISE A PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE TO REMOVE ALVIN PAYNE FROM THE JURY PANEL.

III.

THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO GRANT A NEW TRIAL WHEN IT WAS DISCOVERED THAT JURY FOREMAN EDWARD CLARK WAS FOUND TO BE INELIGIBLE TO SERVE UNDER SECTION 40.013, FLORIDA STATUTES (1991).

IV.

THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT FOUND DEFENDANT'S STATEMENT TO HAVE BEEN VOLUNTARILY MADE, THEREBY ALLOWING THE STATE TO USE THE STATEMENT TO IMPEACH THE DEFENDANT HAD HE ELECTED TO TESTIFY ON HIS OWN BEHALF.

V.

THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT FOUND THAT THE KILLING WAS COMMITTED FOR THE PURPOSE OF PREVENTING A LAWFUL ARREST OR EFFECTING AN ESCAPE FROM CUSTODY.

VI. THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE KILLING TO BE ESPECIALLY HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS, AND CRUEL.

VII.

THE COURT'S ORDER PURPORTING TO WEIGH THE MITIGATING AND AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES FAILS TO MEET THIS COURT'S REQUIREMENTS AS SET OUT IN *CAMPBELL v. STATE*, 571 *So.* 2d 415 (FLA. 1990), IN THAT THE COURT FAILED TO GIVE ADEQUATE WEIGHT TO THE MITIGATING EVIDENCE PRESENTED AND THE WRITTEN ORDER FAILS TO PRESENT SUFFICIENT DETAIL OF THE WEIGHING PROCESS USED BY THE COURT IN ARRIVING AT ITS SENTENCE.

VIII.

UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES, WITH TWO VALID AGGRAVATING FACTORS PLUS THE MITIGATION FOUND BY THE COURT AND THE MITIGATION THE COURT PROPERLY SHOULD HAVE FOUND, DEATH IS NOT A PROPORTIONATE PENALTY.

Statement of the Case

The crime at issue here was the murder of Mrs. Marlys Sather, committed September 5,1990. The appellant was arrested on September 6, 1990. Appellant was indicted for first-degree murder, robbery, and burglary. After various motions were heard on August 6,1991 and September 27,1991, before Judge Martin Budnick, trial commenced on October 7, 1991 before senior Circuit Judge Theron Yawn sitting by designation. On October 17, 1991, the jury found appellant guilty as charged. On October 18, a penalty phase proceeding was held, and the jury recommended that appellant be sentenced to death by a vote of 9-3. On December 10, 1991, Mr. Willacy was sentenced to death on the murder count and to prison terms for the other crimes. A notice of appeal was timely filed.

The undersigned moved this Court to relinquish jurisdiction to allow the hearing of a Motion for New Trial based on the claimed ineligibility of the jury foreman to serve on the jury. The motion to relinquish jurisdiction was granted on August 18,1992, and on October 12,1992, the court held a hearing on the motion for a new trial. By order dated December 29,1992, Judge Yawn denied the motion.

Statement of the Facts

General facts

On September 5, 1990, at approximately 11:00 a.m. to 11:30 a.m., Ms. Marlys Sather left her job at Harris Corporation in Palm Bay, Florida, (R 823-25) to go home to meet with Mr. Roland Sasscer to discuss selling a car to Mr. Sasscer. She did not return to work that day or the next, nor did she succeed in meeting up with Mr. Sasscer. When she did not appear for work the next morning, her co-workers became concerned (R 826-28), and a co-worker, Ms. Connie Humphery, went to her home to determine whether there was a problem (R 849-50). When Ms. Humphery saw no indication that Ms. Sather was at home, she reported that fact to her supervisor, who then attempted to call family members (R850-530).

Mr. Charles Denning Loveridge, Ms. Sather's son-in-law, received a call on the morning of September 6 from Ms. Sather's supervisor, and as a result of the call, Mr. Loveridge went to Ms. Sather's home (R 855). He went to the home, found it locked, and entered the home through a screened back porch. (R 859-60). On the back porch he noticed a VCR, a tape player, a video tape rewinder, a shotgun, and a television set, items normally kept inside the house (R 861). Upon entering the home, he noticed it was in disarray and noticed the strong smell of gasoline (R 866-67). Upon exploring the house, he found the burned body of Marlys Sather in a bedroom used as an office (R 868-70). There was an oscillating fan blowing on the body at the time of discovery (R 870-73). Mr. Loveridge promptly called the police.

Dr. Charles Wickham, the Brevard County medical examiner (along with other police officers), testified that the body was badly burned (R 1029 et seq.). The upper torso was burned with a diagonal line going across the front of the chest below the left breast. Her clothing was burned, as was her face, neck and hair. There was blood caked in her hair. Her legs were bound with plastic cord and her hands were bound behind her with rope and duct tape. Some areas of her panty hose were burned

and melted. There was a ligature around her neck made from a two-wire electrical cord (R1030). In various areas of the house, blood was found on the floor, walls, and ceiling (R 1017-20, R 1031-37).

During his autopsy, Dr. Wickham observed injuries to Ms. Sather's mouth consistent with her biting her tongue (R 1058), and injuries from the ligature around her neck (R 1059) and wrists(R 1069-70). There were irregular and semi-circular lacerations on the scalp (R 1060-62, 1075-77), and a chip in the skull under one of the scalp lacerations, which Dr. Wickham described as a "divit" [sic, presumably "divot"](R 1077).

Dr. Wickham's internal examination revealed fractured cricoid cartilage in the throat, and also revealed soot in the trachea (R 1107-08). He opined that Mrs. Sather was breathing at the time of the fire (R 1108-10). He expressed the opinion that force had been applied to the ligature on her neck, resulting in the cartilage fracture (R1109-10), and that bleeding in the eyes provided evidence of strangulation (R1111-14). He stated that the scalp wound were consistent with being struck with a hammer (R 1115-18). The cause of death was smoke inhalation following strangulation and blunt-force trauma to the head (R1120). He also expressed the opinion that the strangulation she suffered alone would have been sufficient to cause death irrespective of the fire (R 1121). On cross, Dr. Wickham clarified his opinion that the blow to the head causing the "divot" was largely straight on but with a left-to-right component (R1123-24).

Blood spatter evidence showed that Ms. Sather had been struck repeatedly on the head by a person swinging a weapon with his left hand (R 1537, 1543-44). She apparently had been attacked in her dining room, she tried to get out a door into her garage, but was forcibly brought back into the house, she was strangled, bound up, and dragged into the extra bedroom. She was doused with gasoline and ignited. A fan was placed at her feet, apparently in an attempted to fan the flames. The home's smoke detectors were disabled.

Ms. Sather had been to a local grocery store shortly before she came home. Testimony from Laura Reed (R 1466-1475), a clerk at the local Winn-Dixie, showed that Mrs. Sather had purchased a small bag of groceries with a receipt dated September 5 and time stamped 11:33 a.m.. The receipt was found on the dining room table with the contents strewn about (R 1374).

Various pieces of evidence tended to implicate the appellant in this crime. Testimony showed that he lived next door to Ms. Sather, and that he had in the past mowed Ms. Sather's lawn (R 7861). He was seen in the area by some neighbors around the time of the killing (R 952-60, 964-80). Ms. Sather's car was seen pulling into a local bank at 12:45 to 12:50 p.m. (R 1492-95)by Luis Rodriguez, and friend of Mrs. Sather's. An ATM photo resembling defendant, with a car resembling Ms. Sather's in the background, taken at the Same First Florida bank into which Mrs. Sather's car was seen turning, was introduced (Exhibit #161-63, R 1796), and several ATM withdrawals on Ms. Sather's account were attempted by the person in the picture (Exhibit #207, R 2103-08, R1545-58) at 12:50 p.m. to 12:55 p.m. (R 1558).Defendant's fingerprints were found on the fan placed at Ms. Sather's feet (R 1662-64, 1700), on the videotape rewinder found on the back porch (R 1698), and on a gasoline can found in the kitchen (R 1700). Upon executing a search warrant at appellant's home, property belonging to Mrs. Sather was found hidden in the home in a gym bag containing a health club card belonging to appellant's girlfriend (Exhibit #155, R 1755).

Evidence tending to exculpate defendant showed that he was strongly right-handed (R 2294-95, 2299-2301), and Mrs. Sather's attacker had beaten her while holding a weapon in his left hand. There were no fingerprints belonging to appellant on the smoke detectors (R 1674) or on the car, which he had allegedly driven for several hours after the killing. Identifiable but unmatched fingerprints were found on coin holder belonging to Mrs. Sather found in the defendant's home (R 1690-91).

The defense moved to suppress the identification testimony of Mr. John Barton (R 3306-07), alleging that the identification was tainted by an unlawful showup.

Among the items found missing from the victim's house was her car, a beige and maroon Ford LTD (R 2950-52). On September 6 at approximately 3:00 p.m., the car was located parked beside Lynbrook Plaza, a small strip shopping center (R 2953). While the car was being towed, an officer located John Barton, a 16-year old high school student who said he had seen the car being parked in the spot where it was found. He testified at a suppression hearing that he was walking home from the school bus stop at approximately 4:00 p.m. when he saw a car beside the plaza "driving forward and reverse" (R 2918). He could see the driver's face "not too clearly but I got a good enough look" (R 2918). He said the driver was a black man with hair short on the sides and a little longer on top a "skinny kind of" face, the driver seemed fairly tall and muscular (R 2920-21). He described the car as a red and white Ford LTD (R 2921). The next day, Mr. Barton was delivered to Det. Santiago, and they began working on a composite of the person Mr. Barton had seen. While working on the composite, they were interrupted by word that Mr. Willacy had returned home and was present in the neighborhood (R 2957).

The police took Mr. Barton to Jarvis street, where Det. Santiago caused Mr. Willacy to come out of his house and stand in the street on the pretense of discussing minor matters. Mr. Baron was present in another car driven by Det. Vail, who drove Mr. slowly past Mr. Willacy. Mr. Barton testified that he recalled telling the police that Mr. Willacy "looked a lot like [the driver] but I wasn't a hundred percent sure" (R 2929). On a scale of one to ten, he rated his degree of sureness at "eight and a half" (R 2929). When asked if he could go into the courtroom and identify the person driving the car without reference to the showup, after expressing some confusion about the request, he said, "I think so" (R 2930-31).

On cross, Mr. Barton indicated that he thought nothing of the car and the driver until the day after he observed them when the police began to question him (R 2936). While in the police car on Jarvis street, the police officer driver specifically

asked Mr. Barton to see if the black man standing in the street was the driver of the car (R 2941).

The state conceded that the lineup was improperly suggestive and argued only that Mr. Barton's in-court identification should not be suppressed because it was not tainted by the impermissible showup (R 2908-09). Det. Santiago testified that he thought a showup procedure was proper under the circumstances:

I'm under the belief that the victim should be the one who sees a lineup, six people in a photo lineup of a stand-up lineup. If you're a witness, I don't believe that you should have to use that standard.

Q. [Mr. White] Well, you're wrong.

A. I found that out.

(R 2959)

Judge Budnick entered an order finding "that the out of court identification of the Defendant by use of an unnecessarily suggestive show-up was illegal," and granted the defense motion (R 2977,3340).

Following his arrest by Det. Santiago, the defendant made an inculpatory statement in which he denied killing the victim but admitted being involved and admitted seeing the bound body in the house. He indicated that a person named "Goose" did the killing, but the statement was tantamount to an admission to felony murder. The defense moved to suppress the statement, alleging a violation of the defendant's fifth amendment rights (R 3308-09). During the statement, Mr. Willacy asked to be allowed to contact a public defender. He talked with a public defender, and following the invocation of his fifth amendment right to counsel, Det. Santiago reinitiated conversation with him, resulting in the statement outlined above. Following the hearing on the motion to suppress, the court, by Judge Martin Budnick, issued an order suppressing the statement, finding that the police "baited" Mr. Willacy into "telling his side of the story" (R 3338-39). As the order was unclear whether the court had found that the statement was suppressible as a result of a *Miranda* violation, or because the statement was coerced, the defense then moved in limine to prevent the state from using the statement as impeachment should the defendant take the stand in

trial and testify differently than he did in his statement (R 3347-48). The court declined to rule on the motion until the trial (R 3242).

At trial, the defense renewed its motion, seeking a ruling whether the statement could be used for impeachment. (R 2140 et seq.). The state agreed with the generally defense proposition that the court must make a ruling, before the introduction of defendant's statement as impeachment, whether the statement was voluntarily made (R 2144-45) After protracted argument regarding the proper procedure to follow, with the state arguing that the defendant should first be required to testify then, if the state believed the suppressed Statement was useful as impeachment, the state could seek a ruling that the statement was voluntarily made and use it as impeachment (R 2145-46). The defense argued that it was entitled to a ruling before the defendant testified on the voluntariness issue (R 2151-52, 2154-55). The court ultimately agreed with the defense (R 2156-59), and the state proceeded with a proffer of evidence relating to the voluntariness of the statement.

During that proceeding, Det. Santiago testified that after Mr. Willacy was arrested, he was transported to the Palm Bay Police Department around midnight (R 2169). A problem arose during booking when Mr. Willacy did not wish to give his fingerprints, and he was allowed to contact a public defender (R 2170). During that conversation, Mr. Willacy was instructed not to talk to the police, and Mr. Willacy told Det. Santiago he should not talk with the officer (R 2186). Despite that knowledge, around 4:00 a.m., Det. Santiago "went over to check" on Mr. Willacy, allegedly to make sure he had gotten his supper and "to make sure he hadn't injured himself while he was in the holding cell." (R 2172). A conversation ensued, and Det. Santiago read to Mr. Willacy what Det. Santiago had written on the "923 form". He testified that he explained the identification information on the form (R 2189), then he read to Mr. Willacy the following:

¹ The "923" form is a short-hand term for the form called for in section 923.01, Florida Statutes (1991).

"That on the 5th day of September, 1990, at 1200 p.m., the defendant did unlawfully enter the victim's residence for the purpose of committing grand theft. The defendant was confronted by the victim while inside her residence and did purposely do bodily harm to the victim until she was dead. Defendant beat the victim about the head with a blunt object. Defendant strangled the victim with a belt. The defendant then bound the victim's hands with rope and duct tape. The defendant then purposely threw gasoline on the victim and set her on fire. The defendant left the residence with the victim's car"—"vehicle—

I'm sorry.

— "and abandoned it approximately one mile from the original crime scene. Several witnesses state seeing a black male in the area as well as driving said vehicle. One witness was able to identify the defendant as being the same black man parking the stolen car behind Lynbrook Plaza. The vehicle was recovered by Palm Bay officers. A check" —

I can't read it here. I think is says "a checkbook" or something. There's a word before it.

— "belonging to the victim was found in the wastepaper basket in the defendant's bedroom. The transaction book was found by Mr. Marcel Walcott, father of the defendant's girlfriend."

(R2190-91)

The act of reading the form succeeded in prodding Mr. Willacy into agreeing to tell Det. Santiago "the real story" (R 2191).

The defendant testified that during the discussion with the public defender about the fingerprints, he was told several times not to talk (R 2241-42). He testified that, at 4:00 a.m., Det. Santiago came to the holding cell and told him:

"Are you sure you don't want to say" — you don't have anything you want to tell me," or, you know, "you know you have M-1 hanging over your head."

And I said, "What's M-1?"

And he said, Murder first degree." and he had a form in his hand. I guess that's the 923 he described earlier. I don't remember if he read it to me or not, but I can't remember that, but I know he showed me the paper, and he kind of waved it and said, "You have M-1 hanging over your head. It's best you cooperate to the best of your ability if you want to try to get out of here tonight. If you know anything, tell me something that I want to hear that will help you get out of here tonight.

I said, "I told you everything I know." (R 2244)

Following extensive argument, the court ruled that the statement was voluntarily made (R 2288).

Following the presentation of other defense testimony, the defense announced rest and announced that the defendant was electing not to take the stand in his own defense and the "sole factor in deciding not to take the stand is the Court's ruling on our Motion in Limine earlier that was argued earlier this morning" (R 2381). After inquiring whether the defendant had voluntarily decided against testifying, the defense reiterated that the reason the defendant had been counseled not to testify was because of the court's ruling (R 2385-86).

I. Guilt-phase proceedings

A. Jury selection

1. Refusal to allow rehabilitation.

In selecting the jury, the court used a procedure in which twelve prospective jurors were called, questioned, and strikes made. After the first series, seven of the twelve were stricken peremptorily or for cause (R 291-303), and seven new venirepersons were called to take their places (R 303-04), thereby returning the number in the box to twelve. Those seven then were questioned individually or jointly by the court and parties, and strikes were then made against five of those seven (R 335-480). The process continued with successively smaller numbers of jurors being called, questioned, and stricken, with those remaining being added to the preceding group. Consequently, the process required eight separate series of calling, questioning, and striking,² with the last three series involving only one new prospective juror each.

The result of this laborious and inefficient process was a lengthy and somewhat tedious jury selection. During the course of the jury selection proceedings, the court made repeated requests to the attorneys speed up the process. Although jury selection took only two days, certainly not an unusual length of time to chose twelve jurors in a death penalty case, the court repeatedly expressed its displeasure with the length of time

² Series one is reported on record pages 128 - 303; series two, R 304 - 477; series three, R 480 - 540; series four, R 540 - 600; series five, R 600 - 39; series six, R 640 - 61; series seven, R 662 - 77; series eight, R 680 - 95.

the process was taking. During the first day of jury selection after strikes were exercised against the first series of jurors, the court stated, "All right. Counsel, let me tell you this: We've done very well so far in the voir dire, but now that we start with the second panel I'm going to start putting the pressure on you if you don't move it along. I do not want to take a whole week for the jury selection. The jury should have been impaneled a long time ago. This is the longest I've ever taken on a jury selection. ... Let's move this process along." (R 301-02). Shortly after that comment, the court broke for an evening recess at 4:55 p.m. (R 318).

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