IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHADWICK WILLACY,

Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee/Cross-Appellant.

Case **FIL** ED

SID J. WHITE

SEP 13 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT, By______

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE/ INITIAL BRIEF OF CROSS-APPELLANT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

GYPSY BAILEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR **#0797200**

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904)488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT

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

(R 3442-43). The state argued the factor to the jury (R 2818-19), and the sentencing court instructed the jury on it (R 2841-42).

After the jury returned its advisory sentence, the state again argued this aggravating factor to the court (R 2862-63). The sentencing court found the factor was not established beyond a reasonable doubt and did not consider it in imposing sentence (R 2875).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issues on Direct Appeal

As to Issue I:

Willacy failed to preserve this issue for appellate review by neither objecting nor moving for a mistrial. In any event, the trial court's refusal to allow defense rehabilitation of prospective juror Cruz was correct, because her views on the death penalty made it impossible for her to serve as an impartial juror.

As to Issue 11:

Willacy failed to preserve this point for appellate review because he affirmatively accepted the jury prior to its being sworn, without reserving his previous objection. In any event, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in permitting the state to strike prospective juror Payne because the state offered several race neutral reasons for the strike, all of which are amply supported by the record.

As to Issue 111:

Willacy must be deemed as having waived this issue for appellate review, because, although defense counsel knew about juror Clark's alleged "pending prosecution" status before the jury returned its verdict, defense counsel took no action. In any event, because Clark had been accepted into a pretrial intervention program, the state was not pursuing its prosecution against Clark. Further, even if Clark were under active prosection, Willacy has failed to show that Clark's status affected his ability to render a fair and impartial verdict.

<u>As to Issue IV</u>:

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Willacy's motion in limine; the court fulled complied with state and federal precedent before determining that the state could use Willacy's statements to impeach him. After a full hearing on the point, the court concluded that, because Willacy rendered these statements voluntarily, the state could use them to impeach Willacy if he chose to take the stand. Because this determination is fully supported by the record, it must be presumed correct.

<u>As to Issue V</u>:

The sentencing court correctly found that Willacy committed the instant murder to avoid arrest. The state proved not only that Willacy knew the victim, but that the only possible motive for the murder was witness elimination. If this Court reaches a different result, there is no reasonable possibility that the sentencing court would have imposed a lesser sentence, given the strength of the remaining aggravating circumstances.

- 51 -

As to Issue VI:

sentencing court properly found that Willacy The committed the instant murder in an especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel manner. The state established not only that Willacy murdered the victim in her own home, but that, with the blows to the victim's head and face, Willacy hoped to render the victim unconscious. Willacy was unsuccessful, and continued striking the victim about the head. Although the victim struggled defensively, Willacy managed to bind her hands and feet, after which he attempted to strangle her. The victim continued to struggle, and Willacy continued his strangulation attempts. While the victim was still conscious and/or alive, Willacy moved the victim to a different room and set her on fire, during which the victim continued to struggle. The fire ultimately caused her Because the victim could have been conscious and in death. fact was alive until the fire, the victim would have suffered great pain.

As to Issue VII:

The sentencing court properly complied with <u>Campbell</u> in weighing the mitigating evidence and in setting forth its findings by written order. Defense counsel advised the sentencing court of mitigation and called witnesses during the penalty phase to establish the mitigating factors.

Thereafter, the sentencing court found that Willacy had established one statutory mitigating factor and two nonstatutory mitigating factors; although the court considered the two nonstatutory factors, it gave them little If this Court reaches a contrary conclusion, any weight. error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, as the nonstatutory mitigation presented by Willacy was weak, particularly in light of the strong evidence which supported the four aggravating circumstances.

As to Issue VIII:

Willacy's death sentence is proportionate to other death sentences affirmed by this Court in cases involving similar facts and a similar balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances. The sentencing court found four well-supported aggravating factors, one statutory mitigating factor, and two weak nonstatutory mitigating factors.

Issues on Cross Appeal

As to Issue IX:

Judge Yawn abused his discretion in suppressing Barton's testimony concerning the events witnessed by Barton on September 5, 1990. Because the events witnessed by Barton on September 5th preceded the suggestive identification procedure used by police on September 6, 1990, Barton's testimony concerning September 5th would have been based on an indepedent recollection and thus been both probative and relevant.

<u>As to Issue X</u>:

The sentencing court abused its discretion in finding that the state failed to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that Willacy committed the instant murder in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner. A review of the record reveals that Willacy demonstrated heightened premeditation in his elaborate planning and execution of the murder.

ARGUMENT

Issues on Direct Appeal

<u>Issue I</u>

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING WILLACY'S ATTEMPT AT REHABILITATING PROSPECTIVE JUROR CRUZ.

Initially, this Court should be aware that Willacy failed to preserve this issue for appellate review, as he neither objected in those terms nor moved for a mistrial. In fact, Willacy stated only that he "would like a brief opportunity to try to rehabilitate" Cruz. Under replete precedent from this Court, this request was insufficient to preserve the issue. Instead,

> it was incumbent upon [Willacy] to raise a timely objection and thereby allow the trial court to specifically rule on the The record shows that while issue. defense counsel brought the [issue] to the attention of the court, he did not interpose an objection; but rather, he deferred to the trial court's statement of the applicable law. This court will not indulge in the presumption that the trial court would have made an erroneous ruling had an objection been made and authorities cited contrary his to understanding of the law.

Lucas v. State, 376 So. 2d 1149, 1151-52 (Fla. 1979).

Willacy wholly failed in his duty to raise a timely objection and provide authorities which supported his position. In contravention of the contemporaneous objection rule, Willacy waited until the end of jury selection to raise the issue once again, this time moving for a mistrial and citing to <u>O'Connell v. State</u>, 480 So. 2d 1284 (Fla. 1985). As the trial court noted, a proper objection at that juncture was too late to remedy any problem. After all, the purpose of the contemporaneous objection rule is to place the court on notice of any alleged problem <u>contemporaneously</u> so that the court may correct the problem at the earliest time possible. <u>Nixon v. State</u>, 572 So. 2d 1136, 1141 (Fla. 1990); <u>Castor v. State</u>, 365 So. 2d 701, 703 (Fla. 1978).

Should this Court find Willacy's request sufficient to preserve the point, it is well aware that "[t]he test for determining juror competency is whether the juror can lay aside any bias or prejudice and render his verdict solely upon the evidence presented and the instructions on the law given to him by the court." <u>Lusk v. State</u>, 446 So. 2d 1038, 1041 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 469 U.S. 873 (1984). Deciding whether a prospective juror meets the <u>Lusk</u> test is within a trial court's discretion, <u>Pentecost v. State</u>, 545 So. 2d 861 (Fla. 1989), based upon what the court hears and observes. <u>See Reed v. State</u>, 560 So. 2d 203 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 498 U.S. 882 (1990). A review of the instant record reveals that the court's refusal to allow defense rehabilitation of prospective juror Cruz was correct, because "the possibility of a death sentence rendered the juror unable to impartially participate in the determination of guilt or innocence." <u>Maxwell v. Wainwright</u>, 490 so. 2d 927, 930 (Fla. 1986), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 972 (1987).

Again, the standard is

whether the juror's views would "prevent or substantially impair the performance of his duties as a juror in accordance with his instructions an his oath." We note that, in addition to dispensing Witherspoon's with reference to "automatic" decisionmaking, this standard likewise does not require that juror's bias be proved а with "unmistakable clarity." This is because determinations of juror bias cannot be reduced to question-and-answer sessions which obtain results in the manner of a catechism. What common sense should have realized experience has proved: many veniremen simply cannot be asked enough questions to reach the point where their bias has been made "unmistakably clear"; these veniremen may not know how they will react when faced with imposing the death sentence, or may be unable to articulate, or may wish to hide their true feelings. Despite this lack of clarity in the printed record, however, there will be situations where the trial judge is left with the definite impression that a prospective juror would be unable to faithfully and impartially apply the law. [T]his is why deference must be paid to the trial judge who sees and hears the juror.

<u>Wainwright v. Witt</u>, **469** U.S. **412**, **424-26** (**1985**) (emphasis supplied).



In the instant case, Cruz never indicated that she could follow the law or that she could set aside her beliefs. <u>Compare Johnson v. State</u>, 608 So. 2d 4, 8 (Fla. 1992). Despite the fact that Cruz clearly could not have been an impartial jury, Willacy claims that <u>he</u> should have been afforded an opportunity to rehabilitate her. As the record makes clear, further rehabilitation by the defense would have proven fruitless.

Willacy predictably relies on <u>O'Connell</u>, where, upon telling the prosecutor that they were opposed to the death penalty, two jurors were excused for cause over defense counsel's objection that he had had no opportunity to examine or rehabilitate them. The trial court based the escusal on the jurors' responses that the jurors would not impose the death penalty under any circumstances.

This Court initially noted that trial courts are in curtailing voir dire iustified based on their considerable discretion in this realm, Id. at 1286 (citations omitted). However, this Court found a due process violation based on the "double standard' applied by the trial court. Specifically, defense counsel never had an opportunity to ask either of the jurors a single question, but the prosecutor had the opportunity to question each juror individually and reexamine them, even after defense counsel had challenged them for cause. Thus, clearly <u>O'Connell</u> is grounded on its own unique factual scenario.

- 58 -

No such double standard was employed in the instant The prosecutor asked only two questions, Cruz's case. answers to which established unequivocally that she would never impose the death penalty. In any event, O'Connell must be interpreted in light of this Court's recent decision in Bryant v. State, 601 So. 2d 529 (Fla. 1992), in which this Court commented on rehabilitation: "The appropriate procedure, when the record preliminarily establishes that a juror's views could prevent or substantially impair his or her duties, is for either the prosecutor or the judge to make sure the prospective juror can be an impartial member of the jury.'' Id. at 532 (emphasis supplied). Because neither the prosecutor nor the judge in Bryant engaged in such. rehabilitation, this Court reversed solely for resentencing.

Here, however, based on Cruz's answer to the first question, the prosecutor asked a second, rehabilitative question. In her answer to that question, Cruz stated unequivocally that she would not be able to follow the law as instructed by the court if the death penalty was involved. <u>Compare Foster v. State</u>, 614 So. 2d 455 (Fla. 1992); <u>Randolph v. State</u>, 562 So. 2d 331 (Fla.), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 498 U.S. 992 (1990).

As this Court is well aware, it provided no formulaic procedure for accomplishing the suggested rehabilitation in

- 59 -

Bryant, leaving this question to be answered on a case-bycase basis. The question as posed by the prosecutor in this instance was clearly sufficient, as it provided Cruz with the opportunity to clarify her views. Had Cruz believed that she could follow the law despite her personal views concerning the death penalty, she could have informed the court of this fact. Thus, Willacy's burden in establishing that the trial court abused its discretion in granting the state's motion to excuse Cruz for cause is insurmountable. See Sanchez-Velasco v. State, 570 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 1990), cert. denied, 111 S. Ct. 2045 (1991), the trial court disqualified only those venirepersons who indicated unequivocally that they could not put their personal convictions aside and vote to recommend the death penalty where the law required it.

Should this Court find that the trial court abused its discretion in denying Willacy's attempt at rehabilitation, Willacy's request for a new trial on this point is clearly unwarranted. In <u>Bryant</u>, this Court held unequivocally that this type of error "applies only to the penalty phase and not to the guilt phase of the trial." 601 So. 2d at 532. Accordingly, if Willacy is entitled to relief, he should receive only a new sentencing hearing.

However, resentencing is unnecessary. Any error by the trial court on this point was harmless beyond a reasonable

- 60 -

doubt because the state could have exercised a peremptory challenge on Cruz. At the time the parties accepted the jury panel, the state had used only seven strikes (R 678). The state acknowledges this Court's <u>Chandler v. State</u>, 442 So. 2d 171 (Fla. 1983), <u>cert. denied</u>, 490 U.S. 1076 (1989), decision, wherein the state made a similar harmless error argument. While this Court found "a certain logical appeal" to this argument, <u>id.</u> at 174, it found a harmless error analysis could not apply <u>under those facts</u>, namely, the excused jurors

> never came close to expressing the unyielding conviction and rigidity of opinion regarding the death penalty which would allow their xcusal for cause under the <u>Witherspoon</u> standard Both these venirewomen stated unequivocally that their feelings toward capital punishment would not affect their ability to return a verdict of guilty, if such a verdict were warranted by the evidence.

Id. at 173-74.

In this case, however, because Cruz exhibited an "unyielding conviction and rigidity of opinion regarding the death penalty," her excusal for cause was clearly warranted under <u>Witherspoon</u>, and any error committed by the trial court concerning rehabilitation can be deemed harmless. After all, this Court made clear in <u>Chandler</u> that the error

⁸ Witherspoon v. Illinois, **391** U.S. **510** (1968).

could not be harmless there because the jurors were excluded in violation of <u>Witherspoon</u>.

Issue II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN PERMITTING THE STATE TO STRIKE BLACK PROSPECTIVE JUROR ALVIN PAYNE.

Initially, this Court should be aware that Willacy did not preserve this point for appellate review, because he affirmatively accepted the jury immediately prior to its being sworn without reservation of his prior objection.

> [C]ounsel's action in accepting the jury led to a reasonable assumption that he had abandoned, for whatever reason, his earlier objection. It is reasonable to conclude that events occurring subsequent to his objection caused him to be satisfied with the jury about to [Thus, Willacy] waived his be sworn. Neil objection when he accepted the [Willacy] renewed jury. Had his objection or accepted the jury subject to his earlier <u>Neil</u> objection, [this Court shlould rule otherwise. Such action would have apprised the trial judge that [Willacy] still believed reversible error had occurred. At that point the trial judge could have exercised discretion to either recall the challenged juror for service on the panel, strike the entire panel and begin anew, or stand by the earlier ruling.

Joiner v. State, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S280 (Fla. May 13, 1993).

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